IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
Plaintiff-Appellee,))
v.) S.CT. NO. 19-0089
JOSEPH SCOTT WAIGAND,)
Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR UNION COUNTY HONORABLE JOHN D. LLOYD, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

THERESA R. WILSON Assistant Appellate Defender twilson@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CALCULATING THE AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION OWED BY WAIGAND? IN HIS GUILTY PLEA PROCEEDINGS, WAIGAND ADMITTED NUMEROUS ACTS OF THEFT OR CONVERSION OF CROPS. WHILE HE MAY BE HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR THE \$288,000 LOSS RELATED TO THOSE ACTS, THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THE CAUSAL CONNECTION TO THE BANK'S FORECLOSURE ON HIS FARM SO AS TO WARRANT THE \$988,636.25 IN RESTITUTION.

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Pearson, 836 N.W.2d 88, 94 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 45 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a) (2019)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Code § 910.2 (2019)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2019)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 620 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code § 910.1(4) (2019)

Iowa Code § 910.1(3) (2019)

Iowa Code § 4.1(20) (2019)

Iowa Code § 910.1(5) (2019)

State v. Holmberg, 449 N.W.2d 376, 377 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Wagner, 484 N.W.2d 212, 216 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992)

State v. Tutor, 538 N.W.2d 894, 897 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)

State v. Watts, 587 N.W.2d 750, 751 (Iowa 1998)

Earnest v. State, 508 N.W.2d 630, 633 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Hollinrake, 608 N.W.2d 806, 808 (Iowa Ct. App. 2000)

Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Wheeler, 824 N.W.2d 505, 509 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Fielder, No. 18-0096, 2019 WL 1303965 at *5-7 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)

Iowa Code § 910.1(1)

State v. Shears, 920 N.W.2d 527, 541 (Iowa 2018)

II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ORDER AN OFFSET FOR ANY AMOUNTS PAID ON THE CORRESPONDING CIVIL JUDGMENT?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Pearson, 836 N.W.2d 88, 94 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 45 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a) (2019)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Code § 910.8 (2017)

State v. Driscoll, 839 N.W.2d 188, 191 (Iowa 2013)

III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ENTERED AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE WHEN IT ORDERED CRIMINAL RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF \$988,636.25 WITHOUT AFFORDING WAIGAND HIS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I SECTION 9 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Pearson, 836 N.W.2d 88, 94 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 45 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a) (2019)

State v. Clark, 351 N.W.2d 532, 535 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Davis, 544 N.W.2d 453, 455 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 869 (Iowa 2009)

A. The jury trial rights of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution apply to criminal restitution hearings.

State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 647 (Iowa 1987)

Cortney E. Lollar, What is Criminal Restitution?, 100 Iowa L. Rev. 93, 150 (Nov. 2014)

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 470-71 (2000)

Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 243 (1999)

Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 303-04 (2004)

Southern Union Co. v. United States, 567 U.S. 343, 346 (2012)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 643 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Shears, 920 N.W.2d 527, 531 n.2 (Iowa 2018)

James Barta, <u>Guarding the Rights of the Accused and Accuser: The Jury's Role in Awarding Criminal Restitution Under the Sixth Amendment</u>, 51 Am. Crim. L. Rev. 463, 477-81 (Spring 2014)

Judge William M. Acker, Jr., <u>The Mandatory Victims</u>
<u>Restitution Act is Unconstitutional.</u> <u>Will the Courts Say So</u>
<u>After Southern Union v. United States?</u>, 64 Ala. L. Rev. 803, 821-29 (2013)

Melanie D. Wilson, <u>In Booker's Shadow: Restitution Forces a Second Debate on Honesty in Sentencing</u>, 39 Ind. L. Rev. 379, 394-409 (2006)

Hester v. United States, 139 S.Ct. 509 (Mem.) (2019)

United States v. Serawop, 505 F.3d 1112, 1122-23 & n.4 (10th Cir. 2007)

James M. Bertucci, Note, <u>Apprendi-land Opens its Borders:</u> Will the Supreme Court's <u>Decision in Southern Union Co. v.</u> <u>United States Extend Apprendi's Reach to Restitution?</u>, 58 St. Louis U. L.J. 565, 584 (Winter 2014)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2019)

Iowa Code § 910.3 (2019)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 2001)

Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 149 (1968)

State v. Biddle, 652 N.W.2d 191, 200-01 (Iowa 2002)

Iowa Const. Art. I § 9

State v. Morgan, 559 N.W.2d 603, 609 (Iowa 1997)

Pitcher v. Lakes Amusement Co., 236 N.W.2d 333, 338 (Iowa 1975)

B. If the right to a jury trial in criminal proceedings does not apply to criminal restitution, then the right to a civil jury trial under Article I Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution applies.

United States v. Wolfe, 701 F.3d 1206, 1216-17 (7th Cir. 2012)

U.S. Const. amend VII

O'Hara v. State, 642 N.W.2d 303, 314 (Iowa 2002)

Iowa Const. Art. I § 9

Schloemer v. Uhlenhopp, 237 Iowa 279, 282, 21 N.W.2d 457, 458 (1946)

Iowa Nat. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Mitchell, 305 N.W.2d 724, 726 (Iowa 1981)

Wolfram, <u>The Constitutional History of the Seventh</u> <u>Amendment</u>, 57 Minn. L. Rev. 639, 639-40 (1973)

Bonnie Arnett Von Roeder, Note, <u>The Right to a Jury Trial to Determine Restitution Under the Victim and Witness</u>

<u>Protection Act of 1982</u>, 63 Tex. L. Rev., 671, 685 (Dec. 1984)

Great-West Life & Annuity Ins. Co. v. Knudson, 534 U.S. 204, 213 (2002)

Reich v. Continental Cas. Co., 33 F.3d 754, 756 (7th Cir. 1994)

Bonnie Arnett Von Roeder, Note, <u>The Right to a Jury Trial to Determine Restitution Under the Victim and Witness</u>

<u>Protection Act of 1982</u>, 63 Tex. L. Rev., 671, 685 (Dec. 1984)

Granfinanciera, S.A. v. Nordberg, 492 U.S. 33, 43-48 (1989)

Weltzin v. Nail, 618 N.W.2d 293, 297 (Iowa 2000)

Moser v. Thorp Sales Corp., 312 N.W.2d 881, 895 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 643-44 (Iowa 2010)

C. If error was not preserved for any reason, Waigand alternatively claims restitution counsel ineffective.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065 (1984)

State v. Schoelerman, 315 N.W.2d 67, 72 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 647 (Iowa 1987)

Cortney E. Lollar, What is Criminal Restitution?, 100 Iowa L. Rev. 93, 150 (Nov. 2014)

State v. Westeen, 591 N.W.2d 203, 210 (Iowa 1999)

James Barta, <u>Guarding the Rights of the Accused and Accuser: The Jury's Role in Awarding Criminal Restitution Under the Sixth Amendment</u>, 51 Am. Crim. L. Rev. 463, 477-81 (Spring 2014)

Judge William M. Acker, Jr., <u>The Mandatory Victims</u>
<u>Restitution Act is Unconstitutional.</u> <u>Will the Courts Say So</u>
<u>After Southern Union v. United States?</u>, 64 Ala. L. Rev. 803, 821-29 (2013)

Melanie D. Wilson, <u>In Booker's Shadow: Restitution Forces a Second Debate on Honesty in Sentencing</u>, 39 Ind. L. Rev. 379, 394-409 (2006)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 643-44 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Shears, 920 N.W.2d 527, 531 n.2 (Iowa 2018)

Schloemer v. Uhlenhopp, 237 Iowa 279, 282, 21 N.W.2d 457, 458 (1946)

Iowa Nat. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Mitchell, 305 N.W.2d 724, 726 (Iowa 1981)

Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S.Ct. 1899, 1908 (2017)

Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 223-29 (2006)

IV. WAS DEFENDANT DENIED EFFECTIVE
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AS GUARANTEED BY THE
SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED
STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE ONE, SECTION TEN
OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION WHEN RESTITUTION
COUNSEL FAILED TO ARGUE FOR EQUITABLE
ESTOPPEL?

Authorities

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065 (1984)

Markey v. Carney, 705 N.W.2d 13, 21 (Iowa 2005)

United States v. Williams, 612 F.3d 500, 510 (6th Cir. 2010)

28 Am. Jur.2d Estoppel and Waiver § 138 (Aug. 2019)

Poyner v. Iowa Dist. Ct for Montgomery Co., No. 02-1349, 2003 WL 21543536 at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. July 2003)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues involve presenting substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(f) (2019). United States Supreme Court case law has held that the Sixth Amendment requires a jury finding on any fact that increases the statutory maximum sentence, including fines. See Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000); Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296 (2004); Southern Union Company v. United States, 567 U.S. 343 (2012). Based on this progression in the case law, it is now an open question whether a jury finding is necessary in determining the amount of criminal restitution. Even if the Sixth Amendment were not applicable to criminal restitution because of its quasi-civil nature, the question then becomes whether Article I Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution, as mirrored by the Seventh Amendment, would apply to require a jury finding. Both the public and the bar would benefit from a resolution of these questions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by Defendant-Appellant Joseph Waigand from the December 4, 2018, restitution order filed in Union County District Court following Waigand's guilty plea to Ongoing Criminal Conduct. The Honorable John D. Lloyd presided over all relevant proceedings.

Course of Proceedings: On December 8, 2017, the state filed a trial information in Union County District Court charging Defendant-Appellant Joseph Waigand with six counts of Theft in the First Degree, class C felonies in violation of Iowa Code sections 714.1(5) and 714.2(1) (2013-2015) (Count III-VIII), four counts of Theft in the Second Degree, class D felonies in violation of Iowa Code sections 714.1(5) and 714.2(1) (2015) (Counts I-II, IX-X), and one count of Ongoing Criminal Conduct, a class B felony in violation of Iowa Code

sections 706A.1, 706A.2(1), and 706A.4 (2013-2015) (Count XI). (Information)(App. pp. 4-9). Waigand pleaded not guilty and waived his right to a speedy trial. (Written Arraignment)(App. pp. 10-12).

On June 15, 2018, Waigand appeared in open court and submitted a guilty plea to Ongoing Criminal Conduct as charged in Count XI pursuant to an agreement with the State. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 2 L.1-25). Under the terms of the agreement, the State would dismiss the remaining charges and Waigand would pay restitution in or near the amount of \$270,000 pending final calculations. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 2 L.10-p. 3 L.21). The District Court accepted Waigand's plea. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 16 L.20-25).

The District Court held a sentencing hearing on August 29, 2018. (Plea & Sent. Tr. 19 L.15-22). A witness from the bank Waigand had his loans through testified that Waigand's deficiency to them was approximately one million dollars. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 48 L.7-10). The District Court sentenced

Waigand to 25 years in prison, but suspended the sentence, placed him on probation for five years, and ordered him to complete 150 hours of unpaid community service. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 69 L.5-24; Judgment Entry pp. 1-2)(App. pp. 15-16). The court declined to enter a million-dollar restitution order and instead asked the State to provide additional information supporting the request. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 72 L.10-20).

Waigand did not file a notice of appeal from his judgment and sentence.

On September 19, 2018, the State filed an application for supplemental restitution order asking for pecuniary damages in the amount of \$998,636.25. (Application for Supp. Rest. Order)(Conf. App. pp. 111-112). On October 18, 2018, after the District Court entered a restitution order in the amount cited by the State, Waigand filed an objection to the restitution amount and a request for hearing. (9/19/18 Order for Restitution; Objection to Restitution)(App. pp. 20-21).

Waigand filed a supplement to his objection on November 21, 2018. (Supplement to Objection)(App. pp. 22-23).

The District Court held a restitution hearing on November 21, 2018. (Rest. Tr. p. 1 L.1-25). A witness for the bank testified the bank had foreclosed against Waigand and received a civil judgment of which \$988,636.25 remained unpaid. (Rest. Tr. p. 6 L.3-15, p. 8 L.19-p. 9 L.15). Waigand expressed concerns for the potential double-recovery from both the civil proceedings and criminal restitution. (Rest. Tr. p. 16 L.7-p. 17 L.12).

The District Court issued its restitution order on December 24, 2018. (12/24/18 Order on Restitution)(App. pp. 24-29). The court ordered Waigand to pay \$988,636.25 in restitution. (12/24/18 Order on Restitution p. 5)(App. p. 28).

Waigand filed a timely notice of appeal on January 16, 2019. (Notice)(App. p. 30).

Facts: At the plea proceeding, Waigand admitted that from August 2014 through October 2016 he was engaged in

farming and had a line of credit with Iowa State Savings Bank in Creston. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 9 L.9-p. 10 L.2). He acknowledged that during that time period the bank had as collateral a mortgage and security agreements that secured real estate and crops produced by his farming operation. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 10 L.3-7).

Waigand admitted that he engaged in activities that allowed him to sell the secured crops without applying the proceeds to his loan with Iowa State Savings Bank. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 10 L.8-13). Waigand specifically admitted to the 40 transactions listed in Exhibit 1, all but six of which exceeded \$1,000 and would be indicatable offenses. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 10 L.14-p. 11 L.19; Ex. 1)(App. pp. 13-14). Waigand admitted he conducted the transactions between August 2014 and October 2016 to defraud the bank with respect to its ability to collect amounts under the security agreements and mortgages and for his own and his farming

operation's financial gain. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 11 L.11-p. 12 L.1).

Waigand told the District Court that to the extent the minutes of testimony referred to transactions that were not listed in Exhibit 1, he did not disagree with the information contained in the minutes of testimony. (Plea & Sent. Tr. p. 12 L.7-18).

According to the minutes of testimony, Waigand obtained a farm loan from Iowa State Savings Bank in 2009, secured by a UCC financing statement filed with the Iowa Secretary of State. (Minutes p. 6)(Conf. App. p. 108). The filing provided a security interest for the bank, in the form of collateral owned by Waigand including but not limited to "...all crops, annual or perennial, and all products of crops...." (Minutes p. 6)(Conf. App. p. 108). The UCC filing was renewed or continued in April 2014. (Minutes p. 6)(Conf. App. p. 108).

In March 2015 Waigand entered into an agreement with Iowa State Savings Bank for a commercial line of credit in the

amount of \$1,250,000. (Minutes p. 1)(Conf. App. p. 103). The line was granted in recognition of the following security instruments: a \$100,000 mortgage dated June 2010; a \$1,228,360 mortgage dated May 2015; a \$1,000,000 mortgage dated March 2015; and a security agreement dated May 2009. (Minutes p. 1)(Conf. App. p. 103).

In April 2015, Waigand's last loan was renewed based upon a March 2015 financial statement. (Minutes p. 1)(Conf. App. p. 103). It was later discovered that most of the crops associated with the security on the loan had been liquidated between December 2015 and May 2016. (Minutes p. 1)(Conf. App. p. 103). An agent from the Division of Criminal Investigations found 48 or more transactions completed by Waigand that resulted in liquidation of corn and beans that did not result in a corresponding payment to the bank. (Minutes pp. 3-6)(Conf. App. pp. 105-108). The total amount of funds diverted was \$268,788.91. (Minutes p. 6)(Conf. App. pp. 108).

Iowa State Savings Bank attempted to collect on Waigand's outstanding obligations, but there remained an outstanding balance of approximately one million dollars. (Minutes p. 6)(Conf. App. p. 108).

Additional facts will be discussed below as necessary.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CALCULATING THE AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION OWED BY WAIGAND. IN HIS GUILTY PLEA PROCEEDINGS, WAIGAND ADMITTED NUMEROUS ACTS OF THEFT OR CONVERSION OF CROPS. WHILE HE MAY BE HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR THE \$288,000 LOSS RELATED TO THOSE ACTS, THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THE CAUSAL CONNECTION TO THE BANK'S FORECLOSURE ON HIS FARM SO AS TO WARRANT THE \$988,636.25 IN RESTITUTION.

Preservation of Error: Error was preserved by the District Court's order setting the amount of restitution. (12/24/18 Order of Restitution)(App. pp. 24-29).

Furthermore, the general rule of error preservation is not applicable to void, illegal, unconstitutional, or procedurally defective sentences. State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994); State v. Pearson, 836 N.W.2d 88, 94

(Iowa 2013). Criminal restitution ordered by the court is part of the sentencing order. State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 45 (Iowa 2001). The court may correct an illegal sentence at any time. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a) (2019).

Scope of Review: This Court reviews restitution orders for correction of errors at law. When reviewing a restitution order, the appellate court determines whether the district court has properly applied the law. State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010); State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004). A reviewing court will look to whether the lower court's findings have substantial evidentiary support and whether the court properly applied the law. State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001).

Merits: Waigand contends the District Court erred in determining the amount of criminal restitution owed as it related to the charge for which he pleaded guilty. The court ordered the full \$988,636.25 remaining on the civil judgment ordered in Waigand's foreclosure case even though there is

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