IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-0089

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JOSEPH SCOTT WAIGAND,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR UNION COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JOHN D. LLOYD, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

KATIE KRICKBAUM
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
Katie.Krickbaum@ag.iowa.gov

TIMOTHY RAY KENYON
Union County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

Restitution “to the victims of the offender's criminal activities” is mandatory in all criminal cases in which the defendant pleads or is found guilty. Iowa Code § 910.2(1)(a); *see also Shears*, 920 N.W.2d at 532. “Restitution” is defined as, among other things, “payment of pecuniary damages to a victim in an amount and in the manner provided by the offender's plan of restitution.” Iowa Code § 910.1(4). As relevant here, “pecuniary damages,” are “all damages to the extent not paid by an insurer on an insurance claim by the victim, which a victim could recover against the offender in a civil action arising out of the same facts or event” Iowa Code § 910.1(3).

The amount of restitution is not “limited by the parameters of the offense to which” the defendant pleaded guilty. *See State v. Holmberg*, 449 N.W.2d 376, 377 (Iowa 1989). Nevertheless, for a restitution order to be proper “there must be ‘a causal connection between the established criminal act and the injuries to the victim.’”

Shears, 920 N.W.2d at 534 (quoting *Holmberg*, 449 N.W.2d at 377).

The standard of causation has been interpreted broadly to be the same as the one that is “generally applicable in civil matters[.]”

Shears, 920 N.W.2d at 539.

Once causation “is established, the statute allows recovery of ‘all damages’ (with exceptions not involved here) which the State can show by a preponderance of the evidence.” *Holmberg*, 449 N.W.2d at 377. The Court will affirm a restitution award “if it is within a reasonable range of the evidence.” *State v. Sogard*, No. 06-0341, 2007 WL 461318, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 14, 2001) (citing *State v. Storrs*, 351 N.W.2d 520, 522 (Iowa 1984) and *State v. Watts*, 587 N.W.2d 750, 752 (Iowa 1998)).

The district court did not abuse its discretion in awarding the full \$988,636.25 here. There was sufficient evidence to support a causal link between Waigand’s offense and the restitution ordered. To start, by pleading guilty, Waigand admitted to the facts underlying the district court’s award. Rather than pleading guilty to one or more of the charged theft counts, Waigand chose to plead to the ongoing criminal conduct count, which broadly incorporated all of the illegal acts set forth in the trial information and the minutes of testimony.

Compare Holmberg, 449 N.W.2d at 377-78 (approving the use of the minutes of testimony in determining whether the restitution amount was supported, but concluding that, because he pled guilty to a lesser offense, the defendant only admitted as true the facts in the minutes that supported that offense). In seeking leniency at sentencing, Waigand himself touted that by pleading guilty to the ongoing criminal conduct count, he “took responsibility for all of the actions, not just picking and choosing one here, one there, but an umbrella of everything.” Sent. Hr’g Tr. 33:16-21.

At both the plea hearing and at sentencing, Waigand also agreed to the facts outlined in the minutes of testimony. At the plea hearing, Waigand admitted to, on at least forty occasions, selling crops and keeping the proceeds, rather than applying them to the loan. Plea Hr’g Tr. 10:8-25; Plea Hr’g Exhibit 1; App. 13. Waigand acknowledged that each of these transactions was a theft, and that he conducted the transactions “with the intent to defraud the bank regarding its ability to collect amounts under those security agreements and mortgages[.]” Plea Hr’g Tr. 11:11-19. Waigand then stated that he had reviewed the minutes of testimony and that, “to the extent that there [we]re transactions outlined in [the] minutes of

testimony” that were not included or referred to in the exhibit, he did not “disagree with the information contained in the minutes of testimony[.]” Plea Hr’g Tr. 12:7-18.

At sentencing, Waigand “consent[ed] to the use of the presentence investigation for sentencing[.]” which, in turn, stated that Waigand “admitted to the information as it was reported in the Minutes of Testimony.” Sent. Hr’g Tr. 20:13-23; PSI at 8. Waigand cannot complain that he only admitted to certain improper transactions or only those that sound in conversion, rather than fraud. By pleading guilty to the greater charge, rather than a lesser one, and stating that he agreed with the facts set forth in the minutes of testimony, Waigand admitted each of the facts set forth in those minutes.

The minutes of testimony, in turn, include the facts necessary to support the full amount of the restitution order. The minutes set forth the loans and their dates, the collateral that secured those loans, and the actions Waigand took to thwart the bank in recovering its assets. *See* Minutes of Testimony; Conf. App. 103. In particular, the minutes outline forty-eight transactions—for a total of \$288,788.91—in which Waigand sold crops and diverted the funds rather than delivering

them to the bank as required. Minutes of Testimony; Conf. App. 103. The minutes also set forth misrepresentations Waigand made as to the value of his assets. Minutes of Testimony; Conf. App. 103.

Most importantly, however, the minutes state that, “[a]lthough Iowa State Savings Bank has pursued any/all reasonable efforts to collect on the outstanding obligations, there remains an unsatisfied amount/balance due in the approximate amount of one million dollars (\$1,000,000.00).” Minutes of Testimony; Conf. App. 108. Under these circumstances, Waigand cannot now claim that the restitution order is improper. *See, e.g., State v. Stanton*, No. 16-1193, 2018 WL 1182617, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. March 7, 2018) (concluding that, because the defendant agreed that the district court could accept the minutes of testimony as true, and the minutes “provide[d] the necessary causal connection between the criminal act and the victims’ damages[,]” the court’s restitution order was proper); *State v. Hagen*, 840 N.W.2d 140, 145-46 (Iowa 2013) (allowing restitution for a longer period of time than that to which the defendant pleaded guilty because “the minutes of testimony filed with the State’s trial information, which [the defendant] consented to as further factual support for his pleas, revealed a longer period of unfiled tax returns

and unpaid taxes than those years for which he was charged and ultimately convicted”).

Even if this Court disagrees that Waigand’s admissions resolve the question, the evidence presented at sentencing and at the restitution hearing independently supports the district court’s order. The State attached to its statement of pecuniary damages a document from the Iowa State Savings Bank showing total unpaid principal of \$988,636.25. *See* Restitution Hearing Exhibit 1; App. 112. It submitted as an exhibit part of the transcript from the bankruptcy proceeding, during which Waigand admitted that 80,000 bushels of corn listed in his financial statement may not have ever existed. *See* State’s Sentencing Exhibits 1 & 3. Finally, it provided testimony from Stewart and Snodgrass that the full unpaid foreclosure amount was the result of Waigand’s conduct. *See* Sent. Hr’g Tr.; Rest. Hr’g Tr.

Testimony from both bank executives and documents filed in the foreclosure action support a finding that, without the missing collateral and misrepresentations in Waigand’s financial statements, the bank would not have had to foreclose on Waigand’s loans. Nor would it have suffered such a significant loss. The district court pressed the State on whether the full amount of the bank’s loss could

fairly be passed on to Waigand because of other factors such as the declining value of his real estate. Rest. Hr’g Tr. 9:20-11:23. In response, Snodgrass testified that, in deciding whether to extend the loan, the bank took into account possible losses—including the reduction of real estate values—and determined the loan was sound. *See* Rest. Hr’g Tr. 11:8-15:19. Because Waigand both misrepresented his assets on the 2015 balance sheet and converted nearly \$300,000 in crop proceeds for his own use, however, the bank’s calculus turned out to be incorrect, resulting in foreclosure of the loan. Rest. Hr’g Tr. 12:24-15:21. That answer satisfied the district court, and it should satisfy the Court here.

II. The district court also acted within its discretion in declining to put an offset provision in its restitution order.

Preservation of Error

Waigand next asserts that the district court erred by not including in the restitution order an offset for any payments made toward the civil forfeiture judgment. Waigand preserved this argument by bringing it to the attention of the district court and receiving a ruling. *Objection to Restitution and Request for Hearing*; App. 20; *Order on Restitution*; App. 24.

Standard of Review

As stated above, this Court reviews restitution orders for correction of errors at law. *State v. Jenkins*, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010). It determines “whether the court’s findings lack substantial evidentiary support, or whether the court has not properly applied the law.” *State v. Bonstetter*, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001).

Merits

Waigand argues that the district court erred by not including in its order a provision ensuring that the restitution award would be offset by any payments made toward the civil judgment. The State agrees that the Iowa Supreme Court has interpreted Iowa Code section 910.8 to require that a defendant’s restitution obligation be reduced by settlement payments made to resolve a prior civil suit “arising out of the same facts or event[.]” Iowa Code § 910.8; *State v. Paxton*, 674 N.W.2d 106 (Iowa 2004); *Klawonn*, 688 N.W.2d at 275-76; *State v. Driscoll*, 839 N.W.2d 188, 191 (Iowa 2013). It does not object to the proposition that, should payments be made toward the bank’s civil judgment, those amounts should then reduce the amount of restitution Waigand owes.

That does not, however, mean that the district court abused its discretion here. At the time of the restitution order, the State presented documents supporting the amount Waigand owed the bank—after the bank had liquidated the available assets and received certain payments it was due. The nearly one-million-dollar figure represents the outstanding judgment against Waigand. If, for some reason, the bank discovers additional assets or Waigand makes payments toward the civil judgment rather than the restitution ordered, Waigand could successfully move to reduce the amount of restitution he owes. Unlike in *Klawonn* and *Driscoll*, where payments had been made to settle prior civil actions, all previous payments here have already been taken into account. For that reason, an offset provision was not required here.

- III. Waigand’s unpreserved claim that a jury must find facts supporting a restitution order has no merit and, even if it did, has no bearing on Waigand’s case. Nor can Waigand show that his restitution counsel breached an essential duty and that he was prejudiced as a result.**

Preservation of Error

Waigand next contends that the district court erred by setting the amount of restitution without jury findings supporting the amount. Because Waigand did not make this argument to the district

court or receive a ruling on the issue, it is not preserved for appeal. *C.f. State v. Turner*, No. 15-2191, 2016 WL 7393894, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 21, 2016) (citing *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002)); *see also, e.g., United States v. Burns*, 800 F.3d 1258, 1261 (10th Cir. 2015) (reviewing the defendant’s *Apprendi* argument for plain error because he did not make it to the district court); *United States v. Wolfe*, 701 F.3d 1206, 1216 (7th Cir. 2012) (same).

Waigand seeks to sidestep his error preservation problem by asserting that the challenge he now makes is one to the legality of his sentence, which the court may correct at any time. *See* Appellant’s Brief at 52. Although Waigand is correct that “restitution is part of a sentence,” *see State v. Gross*, 935 N.W.2d 695, 698-99 (Iowa 2019), that does not mean that all restitution challenges, made at any time, are free from error preservation requirements. As the Court in *Gross* stated, “when a party appeals a sentence, *some issues* may be raised for the first time on appeal even though they were not raised in the district court.” *Id.* at 698 (emphasis added) (citing *State v. Gordon*, 921 N.W.2d 19, 22-23 (Iowa 2018)).

The Court identified a reasonability-to-pay challenge as the type of restitution claim that could be made for the first time on appeal.

Gross, 935 N.W.2d at 698-99. It went on to say, however, that “[t]his does not mean that such an award of restitution is illegal and may be challenged at any time by filing a motion to correct an illegal sentence.” *Id.* at 699; *see also, e.g., State v. Lang*, No. 10-0577, 2010 WL 5050568, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 8, 2010) (stating that “the sentencing court’s discretionary determination of the amount of restitution does not constitute an illegal sentence”). Once the time for a direct appeal has run, the Court said, “the defendant is limited to filing a petition to modify restitution (or the plan of restitution) under Iowa Code section 910.7.” *Gross*, 935 N.W.2d at 699.

Thus, when challenging a district court’s restitution order, there are both substantive and temporal limits on when a claim may be made for the first time on appeal. *See Jose v. State*, 636 N.W.2d 38, 47 (Iowa 2001). And just because the amount of restitution is part of the sentencing order and may be directly appealed, that does not mean that the error preservation rules do not apply. As identified in *Gordon*, there are some sentencing challenges that must be made before the district court before they can be considered on appeal. *Gordon*, 921 N.W.2d at 22-23.

Here, Waigand objected to the district court's restitution order and was granted a hearing. He filed two separate documents outlining his challenges to the court's order and was given the opportunity for argument during the hearing. *See* Objection to Restitution and Request for Hearing; App. 20; Supplement to Objection; App. 22; *See generally*, Restitution Hr'g Tr. This is not the type of alleged sentencing error to which a challenge during the hearing could somehow prejudice the defendant. Waigand had the opportunity to raise this issue before the district court, and he did not do so. Accordingly, error was not preserved. *But see Goodwin v. Iowa District Court for Davis County*, -- N.W.2d --, No. 18-0737, 2019 WL 6973596, at *7-8 (Iowa Dec. 20, 2019) ("A proper motion to challenge an illegal sentence 'includes claims that the court lacked the power to impose the sentence . . . , including claims that the sentence is outside the statutory bounds or that the sentence itself is unconstitutional.'").

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